ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
SENATE RESOURCES STANDI NG COW TTEE
March 4, 2016
3:31 p.m

MVEMBERS PRESENT

Senator Cathy G essel, Chair
Senator M a Costello, Vice Chair
Senat or John Coghi | |

Senator Peter M cciche

Senator Bill W el echowski

VEMBERS ABSENT

Senat or Bert Stednman
Senator Bill Stoltze

COWM TTEE CALENDAR

SENATE BILL NO 164

"An Act relating to sport fishing, hunting, or trapping
licenses, tags, or permts; relating to penalties for certain
sport  fishing, hunti ng, and trapping I|icense violations;
relating to restrictions on the issuance of sport fishing,
hunting, and trapping |licenses; creating violations and anmendi ng
fines and restitution for certain fish and gane offenses;
relating to comercial fishing violations; allow ng |ost federal
matching funds from the Pittman - Robertson, Dingell -
Johnson/Wall op - Breaux programs to be included in an order of
restitution; adding a definition of '"electronic fornm; anmending
Rule 5(a)(4), Alaska Rules of Mnor Ofense Procedure; and
providing for an effective date."

- MOVED SB 164 QUT OF COW TTEE

SENATE BILL NO. 172

"An Act relating to managenent of enhanced stocks of fish;
authorizing the operation of nonprofit shellfish hatcheries;
relating to application fees for salnon and shellfish hatchery
permts; and providing for an effective date.™

- HEARD & HELD

PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON

SENATE RES COW TTEE -1- March 4, 2016



BILL: SB 164
SHORT TITLE: FI SH & GAME: OFFENSES; LI CENSES; PENALTI ES
SPONSOR(s) : RULES BY REQUEST OF THE GOVERNOR

01/ 29/ 16 (S) READ THE FI RST TI ME - REFERRALS
01/ 29/ 16 (S) RES, JUD

02/ 22/ 16 (S) RES AT 3:30 PM BUTROVI CH 205
02/ 22/ 16 (S) Heard & Hel d

02/ 22/ 16 (S) M NUTE( RES)

03/ 04/ 16 (S) RES AT 3:30 PM BUTROVI CH 205

BILL: SB 172
SHORT TI TLE: FI SH SHELLFI SH HATCHERY/ ENHANCE. PRQIECTS
SPONSOR(s) : RULES BY REQUEST OF THE GOVERNOR

02/ 05/ 16 (S READ THE FI RST Tl ME - REFERRALS
02/ 05/ 16 (S) RES, FIN

02/ 22/ 16 (S) RES AT 3: 30 PM BUTROVI CH 205
02/ 22/ 16 (S Schedul ed but Not Heard

03/ 04/ 16 (S) RES AT 3: 30 PM BUTROVI CH 205

W TNESS REG STER

BYRON CHARLES, representing hinself
Ket chi kan, Al aska
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in favor of anmending SB 164.

M KE Tl NKER

Al aska Wl dlife Conservation Associ ation
Fai r banks, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Rai sed questions about SB 164.

AL BARRETTE, representing hinself

Fai r banks, Al aska

POSI TION STATEMENT: Testified in support of SB 164 wth
amendnent s.

Rl CHARD DAVI S

Seaf ood Producers Cooperative

Sitka, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Recommended changes to the bill.

BERNARD CHASTAI N, Deputy Director

Al aska Wl dlife Troopers

Al aska Departnent of Public Safety

Anchor age, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Answered questions regarding SB 164.

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 2- March 4, 2016



AARON PETERSQN, Attorney

Crimnal D vision

Al aska Departnent of Law

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Answered questions regarding SB 164.

SETH BEAUSANG, Attorney

Al aska Departnent of Law

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Answered questions regarding SB 164.

BRUCE DALE, Director

Division of WIldlife Conservation

Al aska Departnent of Fish and Gane ( ADF&G

Pal mer, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Addressed questions regardi ng SB 164.

FOREST BOVNERS, Deputy Director

Commerci al Fisheries Division

Al aska Departnent of Fish and Gane

Juneau, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Addressed questions regarding SB 172.

SAM RABUNG, Aquacul ture Section Chief

Conmrer ci al Fi sheries Division

Al aska Departnent of Fish and Gane

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Addressed questions regarding SB 172.

NANCY HI LLSTRAND, Oamner

Pi oneer Al askan Fi sheries

Kachemak Bay, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 172.

STEVE RYKACZEWSKI, Oyster farner

Honer, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to raising permt
application fees for mariculture.

CHERYL RYKACZEWSKI, Secretary
Kachemak Shel | fish Mricul ture Associ ation

Homer, Al aska
POSI Tl ON STATEMENT: Addressed concerns with SB 172.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 3- March 4, 2016



3:31: 08 PM

CHAIR CATHY GESSEL <called the Senate Resources Standing
Commttee neeting to order at 3:31 p.m Present at the call to
order were Senators Coghill, Costello, Welechowski, M cciche,
and Chair G essel.

SB 164-FI SH & GAME: OFFENSES; LI CENSES; PENALTI ES

3:31:49 PM

CHAI R G ESSEL announced the consideration of SB 164. She noted
that staff at the Al aska Departnments of Fish and Gane (ADF&G,
Public Safety (DPS), and Law (DOL) testified at a previous
hearing, and she opened up the hearing to public testinony,
limted to two m nutes each.

3:33:32 PM

BYRON CHARLES, representing hinself, Ketchikan, Al aska, said he
recently saw a dead sea lion with a triple-hook stuck in its
throat, which was likely the result of the sea lion's attenpt to
grab a snagged sal non. These "fish wars" in Alaska need to be
better contained to prevent people from hurting each other, he
said. The new policies proposed in SB 164 need serious
anendnents, he noted. "What kind of penalty can you put or
i npose on sonebody when a sea lion has a triple-hook stuck in
its throat?" He said he grew up snagging fish wth halibut
hooks, but the triple-hooks need to be outlawed. Additionally,
section 1 of SB 164 "should be fly fishing only," he stated.

3:36: 33 PM

M KE TI NKER, Al aska Wldlife Conservati on Associ ati on,
Fai r banks, Al aska, said the public did not get to testify at the
first hearing, but the first sections of SB 164 are fine, "and
probably going to the class A [m sdeneanor] just reflects the
noder ni zation." He questioned the deletion of "upon conviction,"”
as it seens a person would have to be convicted before getting
fines and restitutions. The new fines are good, he said, because
sonme of the current |evels are archaic.

MR. TINKER expressed concern in trying to recoup federa
mat ching funds; "both from the fish side and on the wldlife
side, that's a reinbursenent program"” Wen a |egislator asks
how much the state has to pay for the managenent of a caribou in
order to get a reinbursable figure to add into the fine is a
very difficult thing to do, he said, "one that would |ikely cost
many, nmany tinmes what would conme out of the fine." He said his
point is that if "you took the eligible Pittman-Robertson noney

SENATE RES COW TTEE -4- March 4, 2016



on caribou, for exanple, where we have hundreds of thousands of
them and divided it by the hundreds of thousands of dollars we
spend on qualifying characteristics, we'd cone up with a dollar
a caribou, and at three-to-one, you could recover three bucks."
He said he does not see how Alaska could do that w thout
"running the cost of the thing way out into the future." M.
Ti nker gave the exanple of someone getting a fine for [taking] a
caribou, "and then the retribution for Pittnman-Robertson
cones the followng Cctober when the state nmakes its
rei nbursenent charge.” He said it is unclear and he would Ilike
that clarified, but he does not see it "as a doable thing."

MR. TINKER said other amendnents are needed, and one thing his
group has been on top of for several years is "geography getting
in the way, and that is the application of restitution"” where it
is applied in some cases and not in others. He said first-tine
uni ntentional, technical violators who turn thenselves in should
be exenpt, "otherwi se we're not getting the bang for our buck to
try to get hunters in the field; the idea is not to scare every
single new or inexperienced hunter out of the field because [the
hunter] m ght get slapped down."

CHAIR G ESSEL suggested M. Tinker submt a letter with his
suggestions and questi ons.

3:40: 55 PM

AL BARRETTE, representing hinself, Fairbanks, Alaska, said he is
a nenber of the Fairbanks Advisory Commttee and other outdoor
organi zations. He stated that SB 164 is well thought out and
goes in the right direction, but he suggested a restitution
exenption for self-reporting violators who salvage all of their
ganme and surrender it to wildlife enforcenent. [The change] will
not take anything away from public safety, he opined. The court
system uses this penalty arbitrarily, he said, and he gave the
exanples of Judge David [Zwi nk] who adds restitution to plea
bargain deals on self-reported violations and Superior Court
Judge [Richard Erlich] who charged three Point Hope residents
who killed up to 37 caribou without salvaging the nmeat wth
wanton waste and did not issue a fine, community service, or any
kind of education requirenent. "He actually said it was a
nom nal charge,” and that is very disturbing that wanton waste
of Alaska's wildlife is just a nom nal incident, he stated.

MR. BARRETTE suggested renoving "sport" from resident fishing
i censes, because there are at |east 20,000 to 40,000 Al askans
who subsistence fish and do not contribute since they are not
required to have a license. "I think the second |argest users of

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 5- March 4, 2016



our fish resources, which is subsistence, ought to pay a little
bit of something into our nmanagenent of our fish resources,” he
concl uded.

3:44: 03 PM

RICHARD DAVIS, Seafood Producers Cooperative (SPC), Sitka,
Al aska, explained that the SPC is a fishing business collective
and cold storage in Sitka, owned and operated by 600 fishers

most of whom are Alaskans. He explained that SPC has been
operating since 1945 when the cooperative provided fish I|iver
oil for WANI, and it is the oldest and largest fishery
cooperative of its kind in North Anmerica. M. Davis noted that
section 6 of SB 164 doubles the maxinum fines for first and
second convictions for fishery violations but does not double
the nmaximum fine for a third conviction. In view of Al aska's
denerit point system that fishers operate under, they can only
collect so many points of offenses against their |icenses before
losing them for one to three years. "The third conviction could
be any nunber you wanted to put in there because under the

three-strikes-and-out and the strict liability risk that you
incur if you have violations of a strict liability nature, you
could lose your boat and your permts, and it's been done," he
said. He noted that the current bill version does not double the

maxi mum fine for any of the 12 listed gane species. He said his
fishermen believe that if fines are doubled, it should be done
uniformy across all of the revenues collected through the penal
system If there is a chronic fisheries conpliance problem
somewhere in Alaska that can be pointed out to M. Davis, then
he would be willing to reconsider. Al aska's conmercial salnon
fishers are earning |l ess noney for their products than they were
ten years ago, he stated.

3:46: 41 PM
SENATOR COGHI LL suggested that M. Davis wite down specific
concerns about the fines for the commttee.

3:47:17 PM
SENATOR G ESSEL asked if there were any wtnesses wanting to
testify, and, hearing none, closed public testinony.

3:48: 13 PM

BERNARD CHASTAIN, Deputy Director, Al aska WIldlife Troopers,
Departnment of Public Safety (DPS), Anchorage, noted that a
w tness asked why the term "upon conviction”™ was renoved, and he
pointed out that section 16 on page 5 of SB 164 refers to a
person "who is convicted."

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 6- March 4, 2016



CHAI R G ESSEL asked about the reference on page 5, |ine 26.

3:49: 07 PM
AARON PETERSON, Attorney, Crimnal Division, Departnent of Law,
Anchor age, said "upon conviction" was superfluous since

m sdeneanor fines are not inposed w thout convictions.

CHAIR G ESSEL referred to the question about doubling fines for
a second conviction but not for nore convictions.

3:50: 25 PM

MR. PETERSON said that fines for first and second convictions
were set in 1988, but fines for subsequent convictions were set
| ater and do not need inflation adjustnents.

CHAIR G ESSEL suggested that the fines were not increased so
much as they were adjusted for justification.

MR. PETERSON said he was not involved in setting the fines;
however, the increase does mrror inflation rates.

3:52:12 PM

SENATOR M CCICHE said he would |ike to know when big gane fines
were set to see if the adjustnents are fair. Adjusting for
inflation is a good way to raise fines, he said. He asked about
a 50 percent reduction in fines for self-reporting violations,
"so we don't have the waste that's associated w thout that self-
reporting."”

3:53:40 PM

MR. CHASTAIN said the legislature set the current restitution
amounts in 1996. He stated that DPS is not concerned so mnuch
with the anmount of the fine; however, it supports the concept of
reducing or elimnating restitution for a "self-turn-in" to
encourage people to bring in carcasses. "In fact, that is a
policy of our departnent to not apply restitution to people who
turn thenselves in ... and we have an established history of
doing that,” he added. Troopers meke such recommendations to
district attorneys, but there have been a few tinmes where judges
have decided it would be nore appropriate to apply restitution

He said having flexibility is inportant, and not applying
restitution would encourage people to bring in aninmals that were
illegally taken.

3:55: 27 PM

SENATOR M CCICHE said it nakes people less likely to cut their
gear loose if they "wouldn't be fined by harvesting all the

SENATE RES COW TTEE -7- March 4, 2016



fish." He said it is sonething to think about for the next
conmittee. He said he remains concerned about the tags or
permts in [subsections] (f) and (g) of section 3 that nust be
val i dated upon harvest, because "it <clearly doesn’t work in
el ectronic formfor something that has to be validated.™

3:56: 53 PM
SENATOR COGHI LL asked if it is true that subsi stence harvesters
do not have to be |icensed.

3:57: 59 PM

SETH BEAUSANG Attorney, Alaska Departnent of Law, Anchorage,
Al aska, said sonme subsistence fisheries require permts, but not
al | .

3:58:22 PM
SENATOR COGHILL asked if there are 20,000 to 40,000 subsistence
users as stated by the previous wtness.

MR. BEAUSANG said he does not know.

SENATOR COGHILL requested the nunber of subsistence users and
the nunber of issued sport fishing licenses. It is a legitimte
point if the state does not know how nmany fish are being taken,
he stated.

3:59:39 PM

SENATOR M CCl CHE suggested that the witness was referring to the
di fference between subsistence and personal use, where one
requires a license and one does not.

SENATOR COGHILL said the confusion is not surprising, "because
it divides Al askans pretty well ... between the personal use and
subsi stence use; however, it would be nice to know how many
subsi stence usage permts are there, if any."

SENATOR G ESSEL asked Senator Coghill to pose his question to
t he next w tness.

4:01:16 PM

BRUCE DALE, Director, Division of WIldlife Conservation, Al aska
Departnent of Fish and Gane (ADF&S, Palner, asked himif he is
aski ng only about personal use fisheries.

SENATOR COGHI LL said it 1is fisheries; how does a person

di stingui sh between personal use and subsistence fisheries, and
do they both require permts or |icenses?

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 8- March 4, 2016



MR. DALE replied that he woul d get back to Senator Coghill.

4:02: 02 PM
SENATOR M CCl CHE asked why [AS 16.05.782(d)] was not in section
8 of the bill.

4:02:45 PM
MR. PETERSON clarified that subsection (d) is not being anended.

SENATOR M CCI CHE spoke of a situation where a person who never
breaks laws is hunting bears and stunbles within a half mle of
a solid waste disposal facility and "drops a bear and a brown-
shirt conmes.”" WII there be any leniency if the hunter did not
intend to use the waste facility as bait?

4:04: 22 PM

MR. CHASTAIN said that section deals with taking brown bears
near solid waste disposal sites. "Wiat is attenpting to be done
here is that it makes it a violation if we cannot prove that
negl i gence was part of it," he added.

4:05: 13 PM
SENATOR M CCICHE interpreted M. Chastain's reply to nmean that
t he DPS woul d be reasonable in its approach.

4:05: 58 PM

CHAIR G ESSEL noted that many concerns with SB 164 are rel ated
to judicial matters, so she advocated noving it on to the Senate
Judiciary Comm ttee.

4:06: 25 PM

SENATOR COSTELLO noved to report SB 164, version 29-GS2958\A,
from commttee wth individual recomendations and attached
fiscal note(s).

4:06: 39 PM
CHAIR G ESSEL announced that wthout objection, SB 164 is
reported fromconmttee.

4:06:43 PM
At ease.

SB 172- FI SH SHELLFI SH HATCHERY/ ENHANCE PROJECTS

4:08: 05 PM

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 9- March 4, 2016



CHAIR G ESSEL called the commttee back to order and announced
t he consi deration of SB 172.

4:08: 31 PM

FOREST BOWERS, Deputy Director, Comercial Fisheries Division,
Al aska Departnent of Fish and Gane (ADF&5, Juneau, said ADF&G
can permt shellfish hatcheries that supply aquaculture, but it
cannot permt hatcheries designed to release shellfish into the
natural environment. He explained that SB 172 establishes a
permtting process for hatcheries designed to enhance existing
shel I fish resources. The shellfish industry is interested in
doing this, he said, and people are exploring experinmental
shel | fish aquacul ture throughout Al aska. He noted that the bil
is nodeled after Al aska's private, nonprofit salnon hatchery
pr ogram

4:10: 26 PM

MR. BOWERS said section 1 of SB 172 gives the Alaska Board of
Fisheries the authority to direct ADF& on how enhanced
shel | fish stocks woul d be managed in "special harvest areas" for
cost recovery. He explained that there are special harvest areas
for salnmon hatchery operators to collect fish to recover their
costs, and section 1 of SB 172 does the sane for shellfish
hatcheries. He said that once the brood stock needs are net,
cost recovery could then occur in the special harvest area,
whi ch could be "a cost recovery fishery or an assessnent that's
supplied to comon property harvesters in the special harvest
area; we do both of those now. "

4:11: 35 PM

MR. BOWERS explained that section 2 is not directly related to
shel | fish enhancenent, but it increases the permt application
fee for new private, nonprofit salnon hatcheries from $100 to
$1,000. The existing fee has been in place for about 40 years,
he stated, and the new fee will nore accurately reflect the cost
of processing the applications.

SENATOR COGHILL said the increase is a big deal, and he asked if
the application nust be renewed annually.

MR. BOWAERS replied that the fee is not for renewals; it is for
new projects. There is only one or two every several years. New
hat chery applications involve many staff and require public
heari ngs, genetic assessnents, and pathol ogy work, for exanple.

SENATOR COGHI LL asked if [permttees] can do sone of that work.

SENATE RES COW TTEE -10- March 4, 2016



4:13:26 PM

MR. BOWERS said yes. He noved on to section 3, which is the
heart of SB 172 and provides the details of the permtting
process. It addresses cost recovery for hatcheries, sets the
application fee, allows ADF&G to solicit information from
experts, and requires that a hatchery provide a substanti al
benefit to the public and not jeopardize natural stocks. Public
heari ngs and addressing objections from the public are also
requi red, he expl ai ned.

4:15:16 PM

MR. BOWERS said shellfish brood stocks must come from approved
sources, ideally from native or nearby stocks, and released
shellfish wll be comon property, except in special cost

recovery harvest areas.

4:16: 22 PM
SENATOR COSTELLO asked about [publishing hearing notices in a
newspaper], and she recalled that Ilegislation was passed

all ow ng el ectronic notices.

MR. BOWERS said that was discussed as being sonmewhat archaic,
but the Departnent of Law may have wanted that | anguage.

4:17: 30 PM

SAM RABUNG Aquaculture Section Chief, Comercial Fisheries
Di vision, Alaska Departnent of Fish and Gane (ADF&5, Juneau,
said the bill is verbatim from the salnon statutes, and he did
not make any unnecessary changes.

CHAIR G ESSEL said she was inforned that the bill Representative
Costello referred to did not pass.

SENATOR COGHILL said that [allowing electronic notice] may be a
good anendnment, and he asked if "designated areas" are proposed
to ADF&G or if they are sinply designated by the departnent.

4:18:18 PM

MR. BOWERS answered that the Board of Fisheries can establish
special harvest areas. They "are also laid out”" in the
"conpr ehensi ve sal non plan.™

SENATOR COGHILL asked if the shellfish industry can propose
speci al harvest areas.

4:19: 08 PM

SENATE RES COW TTEE -11- March 4, 2016



MR. RABUNG expl ained that the intent is to harvest the shellfish
that are produced by the hatchery. The hatcheries rel ease stock
to contribute to the conmmon property harvest; however, they are
allowed to harvest a portion of that stock to fund hatchery
oper at i ons.

SENATOR COGHI LL said that he knows that there are places "that
could or would be proposed, | just didn't know who did the
vetting." He presented a scenario where a person wants to be in
the shellfish industry and tells the state of a good area
"because there's no other shellfish in that area; it's got good
bottomlines in it; the water runs the right way; it’s the right
tenperature, and Fish and Gane says 'well we haven't designated
it, sorry.""

4:20: 37 PM
MR BONERS said that scenario could occur, and ADF&G would
eval uate the proposal.

SENATOR M CCICHE said oysters do not reproduce in Al aska, and
"we" purchase spat from the Lower-48. He asked about areas that
are already permtted for oysters and if they can be shipped
around the state for existing aquatic farms.

4:21:22 PM

MR. RABUNG answered that SB 172 addresses indi genous species; it
is for fishery enhancenent. Oysters are not indigenous to
Al aska, so farns have to be "under positive control."

MR. BOVWERS said there is interest in hatcheries for red king
crab near Kodiak, Sand Point, the Pribilof Islands, and
Sout heast Al aska. There is also interest in geoduck, abal one,
and sea cucunber farms in Southeast. The npbst interest appears
to be in red king crab and sea cucunbers, he added.

4:22:30 PM

SENATOR W ELECHOWSKI said ADF&G scientists have opposed geoduck
fisheries for many years, although the Ilegislature has now
allowed it. He asked if sonme ADF&G scientists oppose SB 172.

MR. BOWNERS said, "W look at this as a tool." Each project would
be eval uated, he stated, and he would not be testifying if ADF&G
was opposed to the proposal, but there could certainly be a
nunber of hurdles to overcone with any given project.

SENATOR W ELECHOWBKI asked him to provide ADF&G docunentation in
opposition, because he wants to hear from both sides. CGeoducks

SENATE RES COW TTEE -12- March 4, 2016



have been a big issue for years, and "I just want to nmake sure
we go into this with eyes open and that this isn't a political
decision that's being nmade."

SENATOR W ELECHOMBKI then noted that M. Bowers has said that

only native species will be used; however, the definition of
"shellfish" in SB 172 includes those that are "authorized to be
inported into the state wunder a permt issued by the
comm ssioner."” It is a big concern, and he asked if ADF&G woul d

change the definition of shellfish to exclude nonnative species.

There are horror stories from other states and even in Al aska,

he stated. "All the science in the world supports it at the tinme
and it decimates a fishery."

4:25:10 PM
MR. BOVERS said, "W would not object to that."

SENATOR W ELECHOWSKI asked if there is a prohibition of
genetically nodified shellfish in the bill, and he asked if
ADF&G woul d oppose such a provi sion.

MR. BOWAERS answered that SB 172 does not refer to genetically
nodi fied shellfish, and "I don't think we would object to
such a prohibition at all, provided that we could develop a
clear definition of what those organi sns would be."

SENATOR COGHILL said if natural stock will be used, "that would
be fair, but if it's going to be enhanced, that could be called
genetically nodified."

MR. BOWERS said enhancenent relates to increasing abundance or
rehabilitating [stocks], not enhanci ng organi smcharacteristics.

4:26:41 PM

SENATOR COCHILL said that as |long as indigenous stocks are used,
then "the enhancenent stays under that category.” He said he
wanted it to be clear.

SENATOR M CCI CHE said "we" are growi ng oysters that are inported
and do not reproduce here. There are thousands of acres of them
and we all love them he added. He questioned disadvantaging
oyster growers by not allow ng themto grow spat.

4:27:28 PM

MR. BOVWERS answered that spat can be produced in Al aska, and the
exi sting program pernmits shellfish hatcheries for the purpose of

SENATE RES COW TTEE -13- March 4, 2016



supplying shellfish to aquatic farnms. He believes there is one
hat chery doi ng that.

SENATOR M CCI CHE questioned why the |egislature would not want
to allow nonnative, inported species that were approved by the
[ ADF&G comm ssi oner

MR. BOWERS noted that SB 172 addresses enhancenent of fisheries
by producing shellfish to be released into the wild; it does not
relate to aquatic farnms. "W would only be taking brood stock
out of the wild, getting the offspring up to sone certain size,
and then releasing them back into the wld for purposes of
enhancing a fishery or rehabilitating a depressed stock," he
expl ai ned.

4:29:25 PM

SENATOR W ELECHOWSBKI asked about section 6. "You're including
them under the farnmed fish definition, and so you would be
banni ng farned fishing of shellfish?"

MR. BOVERS said that is correct.

4:29: 55 PM

MR. BOWERS said section 3 describes the cost recovery fishery;
section 4 allows the Commercial Fisheries Entry Commssion to
i ssue special harvest area permts; section 5 defines the |ega
fishing gear for the hatchery, and section 7 provides liability
immunity to nonprofit hatchery operators who donate fish to a
food bank. He said sonetimes there is excess brood stock or |ess
productive stock that hatcheries donate. Section 8 establishes
an Al aska corporate incone tax exenption for hatcheries—that's
the nonprofit part;" section 9 exenpts cost recovery fisheries
from business taxes; and sections 10-12 contain standard
i npl enment ati on | anguage.

4:32:20 PM
CHAI R G ESSEL opened public testinony.

4:32:51 PM

NANCY HI LLSTRAND, Owner, Pioneer Al askan Fisheries, Kachenak
Bay, Alaska, said Pioneer Al aska Fisheries is a 52-year-old
Al askan corporation, and she has 21 years of experience wth
hat cheries and salnmon stream rehabilitation. Wen the original
| egislation was witten, she stated, it was an innocent attenpt
to rehabilitate depressed salnon fisheries while being nmandated
to operate without adversely affecting natural st ocks.
Unfortunately, she said, the hatcheries are a drain on state

SENATE RES COW TTEE -14- March 4, 2016



revenues. Adding shellfish hatcheries will further burden Al aska
budget s, because it wll be difficult to have adequate
oversight. She stated that "they're having a hard time with the
pi nk sal mon process, and we have a |ot of problens down here in
Lower Cook Inlet with strays and fish going up streans and
fish not getting nopped up."

M5. HI LLSTRAND reconmmended anal yzing the econom cs of [shellfish
hat cheries] and |ooking at the wunderlying causes of shellfish
depletion. She said that in 1976, Comm ssioner Carl Rosier
admtted that shellfish were overharvested, and after a
political shift in 1977, "we built hatcheries right on top of

the shellfish nursery here in Kachemak Bay." Pink salnon eat
| arvae, so the "innocent" |egislation now produces alnost 2
billion little pink salnon that are eating "our Ilarvae," so

maybe the state should |ook at the wunderlying cause of the
shellfish problem The state has an ideology, she stated, in
favor of hatcheries, and it does not allow open doors of new
information to cone in.

M5. HILLSTRAND said that the controversies that surround this
i ssue show that there really needs to be an open-door situation
for new scientific information in order to prevent m stakes that
will inpact Alaska's natural stock. She explained that the
Anmerican Fisheries Society has seven points "that they talk
about ," and one includes opening the door for science. There are
underlying costs that people are not aware of, she stated. She
asked if all conprehensive neasures have been taken to
conprehend, mtigate, and correct underlying causes of |ocalized
depletions of Alaska' s shellfish. She does not believe that has
been done; "I think we're actually adding a problem on top of
it." She recomended oversight because the commi ssioner cannot
do all of these jobs. She said there needs to be an independent,
neutral council, and she suggested using the Anerican Fisheries
Soci ety, "because they seem to have their pulse on what's going
on with hatcheries ... and are nore up-to-date than the State of
Al aska." An independent, unbiased group that can bring in the
new science would provide the third leg of the stool, she
stated. She said that some ADF&G staff are not allowed to
di scuss hatcheries, unless they agree "with it." She said she is
hoping that SB 172 will not go forward until a cost analysis is
done on existing hatcheries. A report by ISER [Institute of
Soci al and Econom c Research, Anchorage, AK] shows sonme of the
costs that the state has had to contribute, but a MDowell
[ G oup] report does not show those costs, she said, which nakes
it look like hatcheries are free.

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 15- March 4, 2016



M5. HI LLSTRAND said the wording of SB 172 seens to allow the
nmovermrent of crab or other shellfish around the state with the
conmi ssioner's blessings. She said that is dangerous and should
not be allowed. She added that there is no definition of
"enhancenent," "restoration,"” or "rehabilitation" 1in statute,
and these words need to be defined.

4:38: 27 PM
M5. HI LLSTRAND summarized that there needs to be a debate
pertaining to hatcheries so that Alaska's wld stocks can be
pr ot ect ed.

CHAIR G ESSEL noted that Ms. Hillstrand's witten testinony is
avai |l abl e onli ne.

4:39:13 PM

STEVE RYKACZEWSKI, Oyster Farner, Homer, Al aska, said he was
thrilled that Governor Bill Wil ker recently established the
Al aska Mariculture Taskforce. He said he has just seen SB 172
and is still trying to understand it. The bill only addresses
enhancenent, and that is not his focus, he explained. He said
the Kachemak Shellfish Mariculture Association constructed a
renmote setting facility four years ago in response to a Wst
Coast shortage of oyster seed. A renote setting facility 1is
where the larvae continue their growh after they are hatched in
a hatchery, he explained. He believes it is the only Al aska
facility producing oyster seed. Two days ago, ADF&G issued a
"fish resource permt,"” allowng the experinental hatching of
oysters in his existing facility. "If we're successful, we could
become an oyster hatchery in the near future,” he said. He noted
that SB 172 mght not apply, but it states that the application
fee for a new facility would be $1,000, and "our budget is a
shoestring and we count, literally, every nickel." A $100 fee
seens nore reasonable, he said, instead of increasing it by ten-
fold. A diversified mariculture can ultimtely provide state
revenue, but "please don't hanstring our efforts at this stage."

4:42: 27 PM

CHERYL RYKACZEWBKI, Secretary, Kachemak Shellfish Mariculture
Associ ation, Homer, Alaska, said the association is a nonprofit
organi zation supporting mariculture in Southcentral Al aska. The
group is 25-years old and the goal has |ong been to hatch oyster
| arvae from Al askan oyster brood stock, which would cone from
| ocal oyster farms, she stated. Currently, the oysters reared in
the group's renpte setting facility are placed in Al aska oyster
farms, but the larvae cone from Oregon. She noted that her
perspective is from an oyster farmng viewpoint, and she is not

SENATE RES COW TTEE -16- March 4, 2016



sure that SB 172 addresses that; however, allowing and

encouraging shellfish hatcheries in Alaska wll help the
shel I fish industry grow. Keeping the permt application fees |ow
will help sustain that growh during its early stages, she
opi ned.

4:43: 59 PM

CHAIR G ESSEL announced that public testinony would be left
open. She asked M. Bowers if the bill applies to oysters.

MR. BOWERS answered that the bill does not cover oyster farmng
operations, which are permtted under separate statutes. This
bill addresses the enhancenment of wild stocks in Alaska only. It

is analogous to the state's efforts in enhancing the five
species of salnon that are native to Alaska, and SB 172 could
enhance ki ng crab, sea cucunbers, or geoduck clans, for exanple.

4:45: 30 PM

SENATOR W ELECHOWSKI asked M . Bowers to address MVs.
Hllstrand's questions and concerns about costs, nonitoring,
definitions, and inpacts on other species.

MR BOAERS said M. Hillstrand' s concerns about independent
oversight are addressed in section 3. "W specifically describe
a mechanism for that where the comm ssioner would be required to
consult with outside experts ... and they would advise the
conmmi ssioner on permt issuance,” he told the commttee.

CHAI R G ESSEL asked where that | anguage was.

MR. BOWNERS said lines 22-24 on page 2 address the concerns
expressed by Ms. Hillstrand. "W also specifically address the
| ocati on where brood stock would be taken in relation to their
release site," he stated, desiring that brood stock conme from an
area close to where the fish are released. He pointed out that
ADF&G is not taking salnmon from Bristol Bay and releasing them
i n Sout heast Al aska. There may be bays off Kodiak |sland where
crab no longer exist or there are too few to collect brood
stock, so ADF&G might take crab fromother parts of the island.

4:48: 13 PM
MR. BOWNERS said ADF&G is going to try to get the brood stock
fromthe geographic area that it is trying to enhance.

CHAIR G ESSEL asked him to verify the bill section. "I see it
starting on line 11 on page 3; it's a pretty extensive

SENATE RES COW TTEE -17- March 4, 2016



description.” She noted a provision on surplus shellfish on line

28.

4:48: 53 PM

MR. BOWNERS said that page 5, lines 8-13, states that brood stock
will be native to the area where the shellfish will be rel eased.
Brood stock from other areas would need approval, and "that is
something we would evaluate.” It wuld not be permtted

automatical ly, he said.

SENATOR W ELECHOASKI asked if stock could cone from Kodi ak and
transpl anted to Sout heast Al aska.

MR. BOWERS sai d ADF&G "woul d go through this review process.” He
noted that the departnment is working on a genetics policy for
shellfish, and it will be a conpanion to SB 172 because of the
interest in shellfish enhancenent. He then said, "I can't say
that we would permt that particular exanple."

4:50:12 PM
SENATOR W ELECHOWEKI noted that he can only read what is in
front of him and on page 5, lines 11-13, it reads:

(b) Were feasible, shellfish taken by a hatchery
operator shall first be taken from stocks native to

the area in which the shellfish will be released, and
t hen, upon departnent approval, from other areas, as
necessary.

SENATOR W ELECHOWSKI pointed out that the |anguage seens to
allow taking a shellfish from Cook Inlet and transplanting it to
Sout heast. He asked if M. Bowers would support deleting the
second half of [subsection (b)].

MR. BOVERS sai d ADF&G woul d not have any objection to that.

4:51: 09 PM

CHAIR G ESSEL thanked the testifiers and asked them to submt
answers to the questions posed by the commttee. She said she
will hold SB 172 and take it up in a couple of weeks after she
consults with Senator W el echowski regardi ng amendnents.

4:52:43 PM

There being no further business to conme before the conmttee,
Chair G essel adjourned the Senate Resource Conmttee at 4:52
p. m

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 18- March 4, 2016



